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vs.

)

No. 03-0087 PO 




)

GEORGE P. NETTLETON,
)




)
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)

DECISION


We find cause to discipline George P. Nettleton’s peace officer certificate for depriving an individual of his rights under color of law.

Procedure


The Director of the Department of Public Safety (Director) filed a complaint on January 23, 2003.  On April 7, 2003, the Director filed a motion for summary determination with supporting exhibits.  Our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.440(3)(B) provides that we may decide this case without a hearing if either party establishes facts that are not disputed and if either party is thereby entitled to a favorable decision.  ITT Commercial Fin. Corp. v. Mid-Am. Marine Supply Corp., 854 S.W.2d 371, 380-82 (Mo. banc 1993).


To establish the facts material to his claim, the Director cites the request for admissions that he served on Nettleton on February 28, 2003, and the certified court records from the United 

States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri, Southeastern Division.
  Under Supreme Court Rule 59.01, the failure to answer a request for admissions establishes the matters in the request conclusively.  The party making the request is entitled to rely upon the facts asserted in the request, and no further proof is required.  Killian Constr. Co. v. Tri-City Constr. Co., 693 S.W.2d 819, 827 (Mo. App., W.D. 1985).  Such a deemed admission can establish any fact, or “application of the facts to the law, or the truth of the ultimate issue, or opinion or conclusion, so long as the opinion called for is not on abstract propositions of law.”  Briggs v. King, 714 S.W.2d 694-97 (Mo. App., W.D. 1986).  That rule applies to all parties, including those acting pro se.  Research Hosp. v. Williams, 651 S.W.2d 667, 669 (Mo. App., W.D. 1983).  Section 536.073, RSMo 2000,
 and our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.420(1) apply that rule to this case.

We gave Nettleton until April 29, 2003, to file a response to the motion, but he did not respond.  Therefore, the following facts are not disputed.
Findings of Fact

1. Nettleton is certified as a peace officer.  His certificate was current and active at all relevant times. 

2. Nettleton was employed by the Hayti Police Department, Hayti, Missouri, at all relevant times.

3. On August 28, 2001, Nettleton committed the offense of deprivation of rights under color of law in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 242, in that while acting under color of law of the State of Missouri, he willfully deprived John Skinner of the right secured and protected by the Constitution and laws of the United States to be secure in his person and free from unreasonable seizure by one acting under color of law, by intentionally striking Skinner several times on his back and arm with a dangerous weapon, a collapsible baton, resulting in bodily injury.  

4. On August 12, 2002, Nettleton pled guilty to the offense of deprivation of rights under color of law as described in the preceding paragraph in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri, Southeastern Division.  U.S. v. Nettleton, No. 1:02CR00047.  On December 3, 2002, the court sentenced him to 12 months and 1 day of imprisonment.

Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to decide whether Nettleton’s peace officer certificate is subject to discipline.  Section 590.080.2.  The Director has the burden to show that Nettleton has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.  Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).


The Director alleges that Nettleton’s certificate is subject to discipline under § 590.080.1(2) and (3),
 which provide:


1.  The director shall have cause to discipline any peace officer licensee who:

*   *   *   


(2) Has committed any criminal offense, whether or not a criminal charge has been filed;


(3) Has committed any act while on active duty or under color of law that involves moral turpitude or a reckless disregard for the safety of the public or any person[.]

The certified court documents and deemed admissions establish that while acting under color of law of the State of Missouri, Nettleton willfully deprived John Skinner of the right to be secure in his person by intentionally striking Skinner several times on his back and arm with a collapsible baton, resulting in bodily injury.  He pled guilty to the offense of deprivation of rights under color of law in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 242, which provides:


Whoever, under color of any law, statute, ordinance, regulation, or custom, willfully subjects any person in any State, Territory, Commonwealth, Possession or District to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities secured or protected by the Constitution or laws of the United States, or to different punishments, pains, or penalties, on account of such person being an alien, or by reason of his color, or race, that are prescribed for the punishment of citizens, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than one year, or both; and if bodily injury results from the acts committed . . . shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than ten years, or both[.]


Nettleton committed the criminal offense of deprivation of rights under color of law in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 242.  Therefore, his certificate is subject to discipline under § 590.080.1(2).


Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”

In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 (Mo. banc 1929)).


Nettleton’s conduct of depriving rights under color of law involved moral turpitude.  Therefore, his certificate is subject to discipline under § 590.080.1(3).  

Summary


We find cause to discipline Nettleton’s peace officer certificate under § 590.080.1(2) and (3).  We cancel the hearing.


SO ORDERED on May 20, 2003.



________________________________



JUNE STRIEGEL DOUGHTY



Commissioner

�The Director asserts that Nettleton is in default for failing to file an answer as required by Regulation 


1 CSR 15-3.380(1), and that he should thus be deemed to have admitted the facts in the complaint, defaulted on the issues set forth in the complaint, or waived any defense to the complaint.  Regulation 1 CSR 3.380(7)(C).  Although those sanctions are available when a party fails to file an answer, this Commission is reluctant to impose them against parties who are without counsel.  We deny the Director’s request for sanctions for failure to file an answer.





�Statutory references are to the 2001 Supplement to the Revised Statutes of Missouri, unless otherwise noted.


�The Director alleges in the alternative that Nettleton’s certificate is subject to discipline under 


§ 590.135.2(6), RSMo 2000.  However, in determining whether there is cause to discipline, we apply the 


version of the statutes in effect at the time the conduct occurred.  Section 1.170; Comerio v. Beatrice Foods Co., 595 F. Supp. 918, 920-21 (E.D. Mo. 1984).
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